2002

Joanna Murphy, petitioner, v. Utah State Retirement Board Long Term Disability Program: Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This court has jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2a-3(2)(a), § 49-11-613(7), and § 63-46b-16.

STATEMENT OF ISSUES AND STANDARD OF REVIEW

1. Whether the Utah State Retirement Board incorrectly interpreted the law of hearsay in administrative hearings when it failed to consider medical reports and medical statements

in its findings, concluding that “a finding of fact that was contested may not be based solely on hearsay evidence unless that evidence is admissible under the Utah Rules of Evidence.”

Standard of review. The standard of review of the Board’s denial of benefits is governed by the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (UAPA). UAPA provides, in relevant part:

(4) The appellate court shall grant relief only if, on the basis of the agency’s record, it determines that a person seeking judicial review has been substantially prejudiced by any of the following:

. . . .

(d)Petitioner must be substantially prejudiced by the agency’s erroneous interpretation or application of the law.

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(d).

The issue of whether medical evidence and medical statements were incorrectly excluded as hearsay from consideration in the Board’s findings, is reviewed under Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b 10(3) and under the “residuum rule.” A correction-of-error standard, giving no deference to agencies decisions, is used to review agencies’ ruling on issues characterized as general law, including “ rulings concerning interpretation of statutes unrelated to the agency.” Morton Intern, Inc. v. Auditing Div., 814 P.2d 581, at 585 (Utah 1991). Because the agency is interpreting the UAPA, which is a general statute unrelated to the agency’s own statute and its discretionary grants, the Board’s statutory interpretation and application should be reviewed for correctness. This court has held that whether factual findings are based on a residuum of competent evidence is a question of law reviewed for correctness. Industrial

Power Contractors v. Industrial Com'n, 832 P.2d 477 (Utah App.1992).

2. Whether the Board is required to decide the “reasonableness,” of gainful employment a claimant is found capable of, provided by the definition of “total disability,” including a consideration of any relevant vocational elements, and has incorrectly interpreted the law when concluding it has no burden of providing any vocational proof on this issue once a claimant has proved her impairment and functional limitations.

Standard of Review: Petitioner must be substantially prejudiced by the agency’s erroneous interpretation or application of the law. Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(c) and (d).

The Utah Supreme Court has held that “[t]he fact that the Administrative Procedure Act incorporates the terms ‘application of the law’ and ‘interpretation of the law’ under a single standard supports the contention that absent a grant of discretion, an agency’s interpretation or application of statutory terms should be reviewed for error.” Morton Intern., Inc. v. Auditing Div. of Utah, 814 P.2d 581 (Utah 1991).

3. Whether the Utah State Retirement Board’s decision denying long-term disability benefits was based upon substantial evidence.

Standard of Review. Petitioner must be substantially prejudiced by:

(g) The agency action is based upon a determination of fact, made or implied by the agency, that is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court;

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(g).

When determining whether an agency finding is supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole, this court weighs evidence that both supports and detracts from the finding. Grace Drilling v. Board of Review, 776 P.2d 63, 67, 68 (Utah Ct. App.1989). Substantial evidence is something less than the weight of the evidence, but more than a mere scintilla of evidence. Id., at 68. Substantial evidence is that quantum and quality of relevant evidence that will convince a reasonable mind to support a conclusion. First Nat'l Bank v. County Bd. of Equalization, 799 P.2d 1163, 1165 (Utah 1990). However, findings will "not be overturned if based on substantial evidence, even if another conclusion from the evidence is permissible." Hurley v. Board of Review of Indus. Comm'n, 767 P.2d 524, 526-27 (Utah 1988).

A party challenging a fact finding must first marshal all record evidence that supports the challenged finding. Rule 24(9), Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure (1990). The burden lies with the petitioner, as the complaining party, to "marshall all of the evidence supporting the findings and show that despite the supporting facts, and in light of the conflicting or contradictory evidence, the findings are not supported by substantial evidence." Grace Drilling Co. v. Board of Review of Indus. Comm'n, 776 P.2d at 68.

DETERMINATIVE STATUTORY PROVISIONS

The following statutes are controlling in this action:

Utah Code Ann. § 63-46b-16(4)(d), (g), (h)(i) and (h)(iv)

Utah Code Ann. § 49-11-613

Utah Code Ann. § 49-21-102

Utah Code Ann. § 49-21-401

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a petition for review of a final agency order of the Utah State Retirement Board (“Board”). The Board’s order denied the petitioner’s claim for long-term disability benefits under the Public Employees’ Long-Term Disability Act.

B. COURSE OF THE PROCEEDINGS AND DISPOSITION BELOW

In a prior decision, the Board **granted** Ms. Murphy disability benefits for the initial statutory period of twenty-four months, from October 1998 through September 2000. At the end of this two-year period, Ms. Murphy’s benefits were discontinued. Ms. Murphy appealed the discontinuation of her benefits and was denied on December 27, 2000. Ms. Murphy then requested a review of her denial by the Long Term Disability Claims Review Committee, and was denied at this review on April 17, 2001. Ms. Murphy appealed this denial by writing to the Executive Director of the Utah Retirement Systems, and was denied by the director on July 6, 2001. Ms. Murphy appealed the director’s denial and requested a hearing before a **hearing officer**. A hearing was held on April 29, 2002. Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and an Order denying long-term disability benefits was issued on July 30, 2002. These Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and Order denying benefits were revised and

reissued September 26, 2002. The revised Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order denying benefits was adopted as the order of the Utah State Retirement Board on October 10, 2002. This is an appeal from the above mentioned final agency action.

C. STATEMENT OF FACTS

Joanna is 50 years old, born August 23, 1951. She graduated from Bingham High School, then attended the University of Utah, obtaining a Bachelor's degree in psychology in 1975. She successfully pursued a career as a Child Care Licensing Specialist for the State of Utah from 1987, until her medical condition forced her to discontinue work in 1998. As Dr. Joseph A. Brown explained in a letter dated August 14, 1998, Joanna was seriously ill at that time with chronic active Hepatitis C. Her illness was complicated by treatment with interferon and its serious side effects, leaving her with a substantial illness four to five days a week. (Petitioner's Exhibit 2). During this same period, Joanna continued to develop other associated medical problems that have gradually worsened. Though Joanna's liver functions returned to normal by December of 2000, and the hepatitis C virus is at remission levels, she was left with a combination of severe physical impairments. Joanna has been medically determined to suffer from fibromyalgia, with associated fatigue, myalgias, arthralgias, insomnia, headaches, blepharitis, plantar fasciitis, and a tendency to develop other focal pain and inflammation. (Petitioner's Exhibits 3-14). She is diagnosed with, and is treated for several autoimmune diseases, hashimoto thyroiditis (Petitioner's Exhibits 14, 15) celiac disease (Petitioner's Exhibits 15, 16, 17) and allergic reactions (Petitioner's

Exhibits 18-20). Additionally, she had been diagnosed, and is treated for Type II Diabetes Mellitus (Petitioner's Exhibit 15) gastroesophageal reflux, irritable bowel syndrome (Petitioner's Exhibits 3-4) carpal tunnel (Petitioner's Exhibits 12, 22) and cervical disk degeneration (Petitioner's Exhibit 4).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

First, the Board erroneously applied the law concerning the treatment of hearsay evidence in administrative proceedings when it failed to consider medical records and medical statements as evidence of Ms. Murphy's physical impairments. The Utah Administrative Procedures Act and the "residuum rule," correctly applied, would not have required the exclusion of such evidence from consideration when making findings of fact regarding Ms. Murphy's impairments, or conclusions of law based upon those findings. The sworn testimony of Ms. Murphy and Dr. Bateman provided the required residuum of evidence.

Secondly, the Board incorrectly interprets the statutorily imposed burden of proof. Both case law under related areas of disability law, and the Long-Term Disability Program's initial determination procedures, provide guidance for interpreting the law regarding the scope of the "burden of proof" imposed upon employees at disability hearings. The definition of "total disability" requires that gainful employment the employee is found capable of must be "reasonable," and that vocational elements must be considered when determining that employment. At earlier levels of determinations of "total disability" the

agency collects the information needed to determine “reasonable” employment, considering the employees medical-vocational background. The agency should continue this role at the hearing level. In this sense, the agency has some burden of proof already built into its procedures, to enable its determinations. This burden should remain with the agency, and should not shift to the employee at the hearing level, to provide the vocational expertise required to make a determination of “reasonable” employment, after she has proven her impairments and functional limitations.

Lastly, the Board’s denial of disability benefits rested upon the testimony and evaluation by a physical therapist, as well as the purported failure of Dr. Bateman to provide sufficient evidence supporting proof of disability. The physical therapist has training and experience rehabilitating and evaluating injured workers, primarily in workers’ compensation cases. According to the testimony of Dr. Bateman, a consulting specialist Ms. Murphy was referred to, and supported by medical reports and statements of many other doctors, Ms. Murphy has a systemic illness of a chronic nature, rather than an acute work-related injury. Dr. Bateman testified that the type of evaluation performed by the physical therapist is inadequate for evaluating the expected on-the-job performance by those with systemic illness. Medical reports and statements supporting Ms. Murphy’s medical problems, and functional limitations were not considered by the Board in its findings.

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE

THE BOARD ERRONEOUSLY APPLIED THE HEARSAY RULE WHEN IT EXCLUDED MEDICAL RECORDS AND MEDICAL STATEMENTS FROM ITS FINDINGS OF FACT

The Board excluded from its consideration of the issue of medical impairment twenty-two exhibits, and approximately 116 pages of medical reports and medical statements, including those of numerous diagnostic tests.¹ After admitting the medical reports and medical statements into evidence, the Board finds:

6. Petitioner failed to provide any non-hearsay evidence showing she maintained any medically determinable physical impairment from accepted clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques.

Order, dated September 26, 2002, Findings of Fact, p. 3. The Public Employees' Long-Term Disability Act defines "Total disability":

"Total disability" means, after the elimination period and the first 24 months of disability benefits, the complete inability, based solely on physical objective medical impairment, to engage in any gainful occupation which is reasonable, considering the eligible employee's education, training, and experience.

Utah Code Ann. § 49-21-102(11)(b). "Objective medical impairment" is defined:

"Objective medical impairment" means an impairment resulting from an injury or illness which is diagnosed by a physician and which is based on accepted objective medical tests or findings rather than subjective complaints.

¹Diagnostic tests include an MRI, a nerve conduction study (EEG), laboratory reports, a biopsy, testing related to sleep disorder, and pulmonary function.

It is true that many of the medical records and statements admitted into evidence, including medical documents of laboratory and other diagnostic testing, were hearsay. Ms. Murphy was unable to produce as witnesses the numerous doctors, radiologists, hospital technicians, and other health care professionals, involved in the treatment, diagnosing, and testing of her medical problems.²

As this Court noted in Cordova v. Blackstock, 861 P.2d 449 (Utah App. 1993):

The Utah Supreme Court has determined that there are "significant differences between court trials and proceedings before administrative agencies and that the technical rules of evidence need not be applied before the latter." *Yacht Club v. Utah Liquor Control Comm'n*, 681 P.2d 1224, 1226 (Utah 1984) (footnote omitted). Hearsay evidence is admissible in proceedings before administrative agencies. *Id.* However, findings of fact cannot be based exclusively on hearsay evidence; they must be supported by a residuum of legal evidence competent in a court of law. *Id.*

Evidence of Ms. Murphy's impairments does not rest exclusively on hearsay. The necessary residuum of competent evidence supporting a finding that Ms. Murphy has physical impairments consists of the Ms. Murphy's and Dr. Bateman's sworn testimony regarding her impairments. Once an employee's testimony concerning her impairments is supported with the objective medical data supplied in medical reports, the claims of disability should no longer be considered merely "subjective complaints," but should be considered

²It seems unlikely there are many disabled employees who are able to afford such an onerous requirement, or are able to track down the considerable numbers of individuals involved in the production of their medical records, to provide testimony under oath about the truth of the matters reported in those documents.

competent testimony of the claimant's direct knowledge of an "objective medical impairment." The information providing objective clinical, laboratory, and diagnostic testing data, should no longer be considered mere hearsay when testified to under oath by those with direct knowledge on the issue of Ms. Murphy's impairments, i.e., Ms. Murphy and Dr. Bateman.

The Board offered no objections at the hearing to any of the medical documents or medical statements submitted as evidence, and all twenty five of Ms. Murphy's exhibits were admitted into evidence. Tr. 3: 22 through 7: 6. Ms. Murphy provided sworn testimony at the hearing on April 29, 2002, regarding all of the impairments documented in the medical records and also testified to her functional limitations associated with these impairments; information which is also reported in several medical statements by Ms. Murphy's doctors and her physical therapist.

Ms. Murphy testified to her esophagus reflux, Tr. 10:17, insomnia, Tr. 10:19-24, 22: 12-25, 23: 1-11, plantar fasciitis, Tr. 11:1-14, 31: 13-14, physical therapy and exercises, 11: 1-11, 14: 7-12, 31: 2-3, allergies and blepharitis, Tr. 11:19-25, 28: 20-24, functional limitations, Tr. 12:10-13, 16: 1-23, 17: 13-25, 23: 12-25, 24:1-3, hypothyroidism, Tr. 12:25, fatigue, Tr. 13:10-19, neck pain and headache, Tr. 13: 22-23, 17: 2-9, carpal tunnel, Tr. 14:8-11, 18: 11-25, 19: 1-12, 35: 23-25, 36: 1-3, celiac disease and diabetes, Tr. 14: 16-25, 15: 1-14, 28: 1-14, automobile accidents, Tr. 21: 15-24, hepatitis C, Tr. 21: 19-24, Interferon therapy, Tr. 22:2-7, pain and fatigue, Tr. 27: 1-18, irritable bowel syndrome, Tr. 27: 11,

fibromyalgia and chronic fatigue, Tr. 29: 4-11, 31: 4-12, MRI and EEG, Tr. 36: 18-20. Ms. Murphy testified she was diagnosed with fibromyalgia by Dr. Anderson, Dr. Kurrus, and Dr. Lee Smith, and was referred to Dr. Bateman by Dr. Barbuto.

Dr. Bateman testified as an expert in the area of chronic fatigue and fibromyalgia, and as a consulting specialist to whom Ms. Murphy had been referred by her doctor. Tr. 36: 10-32, 38: 9-15, 29: 2-15. Dr. Bateman testified she evaluated Ms. Murphy in an initial consultation on October 27, 2000, and again on February 20, 2002. As part of the first consultive exam, and after an extensive review of Ms. Murphy's medical and psychosocial history, Dr. Bateman found that Ms. Murphy met the medical criteria for fibromyalgia. Tr. 42-44. Dr. Bateman then testified, in depth, about Ms. Murphy's underlying medical problems "contributing and compounding" her fibromyalgia symptoms, and included numerous references to the information found in the medical and diagnostic reports she had reviewed. Tr. 43: 14-25, 44: 1-9. Dr. Bateman read from her own evaluation of Ms. Murphy that "with this complex medical history, the fibromyalgia syndrome must be considered secondary to multiple underlying risk factors." Tr. 44: 20-22. Dr. Bateman opined at length on Ms. Murphy's underlying illnesses, and that fibromyalgia syndrome often occurs "in a piggyback fashion to other underlying illnesses." Tr. 45: 12-15. Dr. Bateman testified these underlying illnesses include chronic hepatitis C, multiple head and neck trauma, type two diabetes, and autoimmune disease, which included her autoimmune thyroid disease, allergies, celiac and other "gut" disease. Tr. 43: 18-25, 44: 1-8, 22-24, 45: 1-4. Dr. Bateman read and

opined upon Dr. Anderson's Residual Functional Capacity Questionnaire, agreeing with Dr. Anderson's assessment that, "given Joanna's combination of medical problems, that she would probably miss many more than four days per month, and would have difficulty working sequential full-time days, even in a week." Tr. 58: 21-25, 59: 1-16.

Dr. Bateman testified about Ms. Murphy's sleep disorders, common with fibromyalgia, and found in Dr. Bateman's consultive report. Tr. 70: 8-25, 71: 1-8. Dr. Bateman also testified regarding Ms. Murphy's bowel function disorders, affected "because people with fibromyalgia get autonomic neurologic dysfunction, with includes regulation of bowel function . . . and hormonal and neurotransmitter abnormalities, which affect bowel function. Tr. 72: 1-7. Dr. Bateman opined about Ms. Murphy's "feeling lightheaded when she stands, and (inaudible) equilibrium bumping into walls, which is also well established." Tr. 72: 19-24.

Dr. Bateman testified:

The objective data, if I may list it, is just strong objective – data supporting (inaudible) supporting diabetes . . . neuropathy, pain, and fatigue are common symptoms of diabetes. She has clearly diagnosed hepatitis C. . . And I've already said that all of her symptoms could come from hepatitis C. She has documented hypothyroidism. She has documented allergies, hypersensitivity, pneumonitis and herpes simplex." Tr. 83: 25. Dr. Bateman testified that "it's listed in my report that she has carpal tunnel."

Tr. 83: 7-8. Dr. Bateman also testified there is medical evidence that would support a neck or head injury. Tr. 84: 18-23.

Because of the foregoing sworn testimony given by Ms. Murphy and Dr. Bateman,

it was incorrect to exclude the medical records from any consideration from the Findings of Fact based upon hearsay. Both Ms. Murphy and Dr. Bateman provided an ample residuum of competent evidence upon which to base findings of “objective medical impairment.”

The Utah Supreme Court has held it to be improper in a worker’s compensation case for an administrative law judge to reject the statements of treating physicians which were unavailable as witnesses on the basis of hearsay. Bunnell v. Industrial Com’n of Utah, 740 P.2d 1331, (Utah 1987). The court found, “There was no reason for the rejection of the statements on that basis.” Id., at 1333.

In this case, there is little difference in its effect, from rejecting the statements of treating physicians as evidence, and rejecting that same evidence from all consideration on the issue of medical impairments or functional limitations.

The Board’s basis for refusing to consider the medical records and medical statements is found in its Conclusions of Law:

3. In formal administrative adjudicative proceedings, “A finding of fact that was contested may not be based solely on hearsay evidence unless that evidence is admissible under the Utah Rules of Evidence.” U.C.A. § 63-46b-10(3).

Order, dated September 26, 2002, Findings of Fact, p. 3, Conclusions of Law, p. 4.

The Board’s reliance on the above UAPA provision is rather confusing, in that the medical records and medical statements submitted into evidence by Ms. Murphy were not contested by the Board’s only witness, Mr. Cory Davis. Mr. Davis, a physical therapist, testified only to his own functional evaluation of Ms. Murphy, but made no medical findings,

and did not contest any medical or clinical findings, diagnoses, laboratory or diagnostic testing reported in any medical reports or statements.

POINT TWO

THE BOARD ERRED WHEN IT FAILED TO DECIDE THE ISSUE OF “REASONABLENESS” AND CONCLUDED IT SHARES NO BURDEN IN DETERMINING “TOTAL DISABILITY”

In its Conclusions of Law, the Board states:

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