2002

# Joanna Murphy v. Utah State Retirement Board, Long Term Disability Program : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

1. The Board properly admitted Petitioner's documents into evidence and considered such evidence in determining that Petitioner failed to meet the statutory standard of "total disability." The Board's Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law regarding the hearsay rule were correctly applied and should not be reversed.
2. The Board properly interpreted the statutory burden of proof under U.C.A. § 49-1-610(3) placing it squarely on the Petitioner to prove "total disability." Petitioner's request for the Court to apply a different standard or burden to the Board must be rejected as a matter of law. Petitioner mistakenly assumes that Worker's Compensation or Social Security disability laws are the most applicable laws to the Board's determination. Yet, even if some non-statutory shifting burden applied, Petitioner cannot prevail on a claim for "total disability" because Petitioner cannot prove a medically determinable impairment.
3. The Board's decision denying Petitioner disability benefits was supported by substantial evidence. The hearing officer heard testimony from the Board's

witness, Mr. Cory Davis, that Petitioner could physically perform employment tasks in at least the sedentary category. Additionally, Dr. Bateman testified that Petitioner's claims were subjective and, thus, Petitioner did not prove a medically determinable physical impairment.

### **ARGUMENT**

I. **The Board Properly Considered Petitioner's Evidence, Including Hearsay Evidence, in Determining that Petitioner Failed to Meet the Statutory Standard for "Total Disability" Under U.C.A. § 49-9-103(9).**

Petitioner provided no evidence in her objections, nor in her brief that the Administrative Hearing Officer failed to consider any evidence presented by Petitioner, or that any error of law was made by the **Hearing Officer** in considering **evidence** presented by Petitioner. In fact, Petitioner specifically admits that her exhibits were received into evidence. Appellate Brief, at 11.

Petitioner's Brief contradicts itself claiming in one place that the hearing officer "failed to consider" Petitioner's medical records, and in another, that the disputed records were specifically admitted into evidence. Petitioner's Summary of Argument states,

The Board erroneously applied the law concerning the treatment of hearsay **evidence** in administrative proceedings when it failed to consider medical records and medical statements as evidence of Ms. Murphy's physical **impairments**.

**Appellate Brief**, at 7. Later, Petitioner states in her Brief,

The Board offered no objections at the hearing to any of the medical documents or medical statements submitted as evidence, and all twenty five of Ms. Murphy's exhibits were admitted into evidence.

Id, at 11; TR. 3:22 - 7:6. Such inconsistencies are confusing to the Board and no doubt to this Court. If Petitioner is asserting that her evidence was not admitted by the Hearing Officer, it simply is not true and is evidenced by the record. Id. Petitioner apparently erroneously believes that silence by the Board regarding Petitioner's exhibits constitutes non-consideration.

These hearsay exhibits went to the weight of the evidence and not to their admissibility. That the Hearing Officer failed to find these exhibits persuasive is clear from his decision when he states that "The evidence presented by Petitioner did not meet the requirements established by the Utah State Legislature in order to be entitled to long-term disability benefits." Decision, dated June 28, 2002. This is hardly a lack of consideration of Petitioner's evidence. On the contrary, the Hearing Officer clearly did "consider" Petitioner's evidence and determined that it did not meet the criteria for "total disability" under the statute.

Petitioner complains that the Board's Finding of Fact #6 was incorrect as a matter of law. It is unclear how a finding of fact can be incorrect as a matter of law - and as to what Petitioner's specific objection is to this Finding. Petitioner may only be granted relief from an appeal of a Finding of Fact if, on the basis of the factual record, the court determines that she has been prejudiced by Board action that is not supported by substantial evidence when viewed in light of the whole record before the court. U.C.A. § 63-46b-16(4)(g). The Appellate Court does not conduct a de novo credibility

determination or reweigh the evidence. Questar Pipeline Co. v. State Tax Comm'n, 850 P.2d 1175, 1178 (Utah 1993). Nor will an agency's findings of fact be overturned if based on substantial evidence, even if another conclusion from the evidence is permissible. Hurley v. Board of Review of Industrial Comm'n, 767 P.2d 524, 526-27 (Utah 1988). It is the province of the agency, not the Appellate Court, to resolve conflicting evidence, and where inconsistent inferences can be drawn from the same evidence, it is for the agency to draw the inference. Albertons Inc. v. Department of Employment Security, 854 P.2d 570, 575 (Utah App. 1993).

Petitioner objects to the Finding of Facts #6 in the Board's Order which states,

6. Petitioner failed to provide any non-hearsay evidence showing she maintained any medically determinable physical impairment from accepted clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques.

Order, dated September 26, 2002, Findings of Fact, p.3. This statement correctly reflects the evidence in this case. It clearly states that all of Petitioner's evidence of her alleged impairment was either 1) hearsay, or 2) failed to use accepted clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques. The issue is not, as Petitioner defined it, whether Petitioner provided evidence that she was tired and achy. The issue is whether substantial evidence existed to find that Petitioner's evidence was either 1) hearsay, or 2) failed to show "medically determinable physical impairment."

The sum total of Petitioner's evidence in this matter is the testimony of Petitioner and Dr. Lucinda Bateman, and the medical records which Petitioner placed into evidence.

The medical records are out of court statements attempting to prove the matter asserted, and thus qualify as hearsay under Rule 801 of the Utah Rules of Evidence. Therefore, the only open question regarding the accuracy of Finding #6 is whether Petitioner's witnesses' testimony proved medically determinable physical impairment using accepted clinical diagnostic techniques.

As Petitioner testified that she is not a doctor and not qualified to testify medically her testimony, while relevant, is not evidence of impairment using accepted clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques. TR 33:10-17. Petitioner did call a physician to testify. Strangely, Petitioner did not call not her treating physician, but a consulting physician, Dr. Lucinda Bateman, who had seen Petitioner on only two occasions, and spent very little time with Petitioner. Dr. Bateman, while qualified to testify to Petitioner's alleged impairment, failed to perform any objective tests on Petitioner or to provide any accepted diagnostic evidence of her alleged impairments. After discussing the latest objective tests for fibromyalgia, Dr. Bateman was asked,

Q: Now, did you test Ms. Murphy for any of those –

A: No, because it's irrelevant. Because they're expensive and it doesn't alter my treatment. Nor does it make the diagnosis, because they're not considered as – you know, it's not an accurate enough test for predictability, it's insensitive and nonspecific. It's not used clinically.

Q: So you don't really know if she suffers from those problems, you were just talking about fibromyalgia patients in general?

A: That's correct. . . .”

TR. 69:22 - 70:8. Later Dr. Bateman was asked concerning the objective criteria for Petitioner's alleged diagnosis of fibromyalgia through her pain and fatigue,

Q: And when you diagnose pain or fatigue, are those objective observations or are they subjective, as to what the patient describes?

A: By definition they're subjective. I believe that indirectly you can get objective data, but it has to do with looking at performance, looking at what they've been able to do, and see if their symptoms are consistent. But by its very nature, fibromyalgia, its complete diagnosis, its clinical diagnosis and everything about it is subjective. . . . I talked to you about lots of objective data used on a research basis, it just has not evolved to the point where it's used clinically."

TR. 81:18 - 82:7. Dr. Bateman's own statements show that no objective tests are currently accepted for fibromyalgia and she freely admits that her conclusions are completely based on Petitioner's self-described symptoms of pain and fatigue. Dr. Bateman provided no objective basis for her diagnosis of fibromyalgia, nor did any of the hearsay records provide objective evidence of Petitioner's alleged aches and pains. As such, the Board's Order finding as a fact that Petitioner provided no "non-hearsay evidence showing she maintained any medically determinable physical impairment from accepted clinical and laboratory diagnostic techniques" was both accurate and proper. Therefore, this Court should find that "substantial evidence" existed for the Board's Finding of Fact #6.

Likewise, the Board's Conclusion of Law #3 was also absolutely correct. It is unclear from her Brief whether Petitioner specifically objects to this Conclusion or not. It states,

3. In formal administrative adjudicative proceedings, “A finding of fact that was contested may not be based solely on hearsay evidence unless that evidence is admissible under the Utah Rules of Evidence.” U.C.A. § 63-46b-10(3).

The Board conducts formal adjudicative proceedings under U.C.A. § 49-1-610. Such proceedings are governed by the Utah Administrative Procedures Act (“UAPA”) under Title 63, Chapter 46b. The Board’s Conclusion of Law was a direct quote from the applicable UAPA statute regarding the rule for hearsay in formal administrative proceedings. Petitioner provided no reasoning or evidence why this conclusion was incorrect or why the UAPA rules for formal administrative hearings do not apply. Hence, the Court should find that the Board’s Conclusion of Law #3 was correct as a matter of law.

In sum, the Board specifically admitted Petitioner’s hearsay exhibits, provided “substantial evidence” to support its finding of fact, and correctly applied the UAPA rule regarding hearsay in its conclusions of law. Therefore, Petitioner’s complaint that the Board failed to “consider” her hearsay evidence must be denied.

II. The Board Properly Interpreted Utah Law in Determining that Petitioner Bore the Burden of Proof Under U.C.A. § 49-1-610(3) to Prove She Met the Statutory Standard for “Total Disability.”

U.C.A. § 49-1-610(4) imposes the burden of proof upon a Petitioner before the Board to show that they are entitled to relief. Despite this clear rule, Petitioner repeatedly asked the Board’s Hearing Officer, and now asks this Court, to ignore Utah law imposing the burden of proof in Board administrative hearings on the Petitioner and to apply a

different burden of proof to the Board, or apply some other shifting burden of proof in disability hearings. See, Petitioner’s Memorandum Closing Arguments, at 5-7 and Appellate Brief at 15. In essence Petitioner requests that this Court inappropriately rewrite the statutes governing the Board’s administrative hearings providing a different burden of proof.

A. The Board Correctly Interpreted Statutes Imposing the Burden of Proof on Petitioner to Show She Met the Standards for “Total Disability.”

Petitioner’s complaint that the Board failed to apply the correct burden of proof centers around the Board’s Order, Conclusion of Law #1 which states,

1. Pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 49-1-610 and §49-9-401, Petitioner bears the burden of proof in this matter. The Utah State Retirement Board is not subject to any state or federal statute, rule, or common law, such as any shifting burden standard, in determining whether a Petitioner qualifies for long-term disability benefits under Utah Code Annotated, Title 49.

Order, dated September 26, 2002, Conclusions of Law, p.3. As with the Board’s other Conclusions of Law, this Conclusion is absolutely correct.

U.C.A. § 49-1-610(4), states, “the moving party in any proceeding brought under this section shall bear the burden of proof.” U.C.A. § 49-9-401. This statute has not been previously interpreted by the Utah Courts and stands on its own to be interpreted via its plain language. It is well settled Utah law that when statutory language is clear and unambiguous the courts will not contradict its plain meaning. Larsen v. Allstate Ins. Co., 857 P.2d 263, 265 (Utah 1993)(“Specifically, we will not interpret unambiguous language in a statute to contradict its plain meaning.”); See also, Johnson v. Utah State Retirement

Bd., 770 P.2d 93, 95 (Utah 1988)(“A fundamental principle of statutory construction is that unambiguous language in the statute itself may not be interpreted so as to contradict its plain meaning.”)

Given this statute imposing the burden of proof on the “moving party,” the sole issue in the hearing before the board was whether Petitioner proved by a preponderance of evidence that she met the qualifications for “total disability” as that term is defined under U.C.A. § 49-9-103(9). “Total Disability” is defined in U.C.A. § 49-9-103(9) in relevant part as “the complete inability, based solely on medically determinable physical impairment, to engage in any gainful occupation which is reasonable, considering the employee’s education, training, and experience.”

Thus, Petitioner, in order to prevail at a hearing for disability benefits, is required as a matter of law under the plain meaning of Title 49, to prove by a preponderance of the evidence: 1) she suffers from “medically determinable physical impairment”, and 2) due solely to her impairment she is completely unable to perform any gainful occupation which is reasonable, considering her education, training, and experience. Petitioner can prove neither.

B. Petitioner Makes Faulty Assumptions In Arguing the Board Must Determine Reasonableness.

Petitioner’s argument that the Board has the burden to determine the “reasonableness” of employment for Petitioner suffers from at least four faulty assumptions. First, Petitioner incorrectly asserts that the Board failed to determine

“reasonable employment” when it determined that Petitioner failed to meet the standards for “total disability.” Second, Petitioner wrongfully presumes that the Board assumed the burden of proof in denying Petitioner disability benefits prior to the hearing. Third, Petitioner incorrectly claims that Social Security and Worker’s Compensation laws are the most applicable laws to the Board’s determination. Fourth, even if some non-statutory shifting burden applied, Petitioner assumes the Board must make findings of fact regarding reasonableness in each disability case even if Petitioner cannot prove a medically determinable impairment.

First, both the Hearing Officer in his decision, and the Board in its Order determined the issue of “reasonableness” in concluding that Petitioner failed to prove she met the standards for “total disability.” Order, dated September 26, 2002, Conclusions of Law, p.4. U.C.A. § 49-9-103(9) defines “total disability” as, “the complete inability, based solely on medically determinable physical impairment, to engage in any gainful occupation which is reasonable, considering the employee’s education, training, and experience.” In finding that Petitioner failed to meet this standard, it may be presumed that the Board considered the “reasonableness” of employment Petitioner could perform since it is part of the definition of “total disability.” The Board is unaware of any law or requirement that it dissect statutory standards and make findings concerning each individual term of the statute. For example, the Board, in making its findings of did not make specific individual findings concerning the statutory interpretation of the words

“complete,” “solely,” “gainful occupation,” “education,” “training,” or “experience,” but rather made a specific finding that Petitioner failed to meet the standards for “total disability.” Placing a burden on the Board to interpret every piece of every statute used in making its determination is overly burdensome and pointless. As no vocational experts testified at the hearing and neither Petitioner nor the Board provided vocational evidence, Petitioner’s claim that the Board erred as a matter of law in determining “reasonableness” is incorrect.

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